

STATE OF EUROPEAN MARKETS 2017

Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation







Università degli Studi di Padova





Co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union

ABOUT FOREST TRENDS' ECOSYSTEM MARKETPLACE

Ecosystem Marketplace, an initiative of the non-profit organisation Forest Trends, is the leading global source of information on environmental finance, markets, and payments for ecosystem services. As a web-based service, Ecosystem Marketplace publishes newsletters, breaking news, original feature articles, and annual reports about market-based approaches to valuing and financing ecosystem services. We believe that transparency is a hallmark of robust markets and that by providing accessible and trustworthy information on prices, regulation, science, and other market-relevant issues, we can contribute to market growth, catalyse new thinking, and spur the development of new markets, and the policies and infrastructure needed to support them. Ecosystem Marketplace is financially supported by a diverse set of organisations including multilateral and bilateral government agencies, private foundations, and corporations involved in banking, investment, and various ecosystem services.

Forest Trends works to conserve forests and other ecosystems through the creation and wide adoption of a broad range of environmental finance, markets and other payment and incentive mechanisms. Forest Trends does so by 1) providing transparent information on ecosystem values, finance, and markets through knowledge acquisition, analysis, and dissemination; 2) convening diverse coalitions, partners, and communities of practice to promote environmental values and advance development of new markets and payment mechanisms; and 3) demonstrating successful tools, standards, and models of innovative finance for conservation.

For up-to-date information on environmental markets, sign up for our newsletters here: <u>http://www.forest-trends.org/dir/em_newsletter</u>

Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace 1203 19th Street, NW, 4th floor Washington, DC 20036 info@ecosystemmarketplace.com www.ecosystemmarketplace.com <u>www.forest-trends.org</u>

ABOUT ECOSTAR | NATURAL TALENTS

The first Impact Hub and Accelerator for nature-based businesses

ECOSTAR is a research-enterprise impact hub and accelerator that promotes entrepreneurship and innovation for nature-based businesses. The initiative is implemented by a university-enterprise partnership between European and US-based institutions. ECOSTAR is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union and private investors. ECOSTAR pursues its mission through the following activities:

- An Impact Hub that promotes the start-up and acceleration of new business initiatives with a positive impact on environment and society
- A **Research-Business alliance** that links universities and companies, providing networking and marketoriented training
- Knowledge products that highlight profitable business models that market, promote, and enhance biodiversity and ecosystem services

Find out more at www.ecostarhub.com and subscribe to our newsletter at: http://bit.ly/2rd1JUm.

This project has been funded with support from the European Commission. This publication reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.



State of European Markets 2017 Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation

June 2017

Genevieve Bennett Senior Associate

Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace

Ariadna Chavarria PhD Candidate, University of Padova Consultant, ETIFOR

Franziska Ruef Research Assistant Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace

Alessandro Leonardi Chief Executive Officer ETIFOR

CREDITS

Project title

ECOSTAR

WP reference

WP3 Research and Assessment of Needs

Task reference

Task 3.4

ECOSTAR contacts

info@ecostarhub.com

Authors and affiliation

Genevieve Bennett (Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace) Ariadna Chavarria (University of Padova and ETIFOR) Franziska Ruef (Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace)

15/06/2017

Document version/status

Draft v.2.0

This project has been funded with support from the European Commission. This publication reflects the views only of the author, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

DISCLAIMER

This document was based upon information supplied by participants in a market survey. Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace does not represent or warrant the accuracy, suitability, or content of the survey responses or the results of that survey as set out herein. It is the sole responsibility and obligation of the reader of this report to satisfy himself/herself as to the accuracy, suitability, and content of the information contained herein. Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace (including its respective affiliates, officers, directors, partners, and employees) makes no warranties and shall have no liability to the reader for any inaccuracy, representation, or misrepresentation set out herein. The reader further agrees to hold Forest Trends' Ecosystem Marketplace harmless from and against any claims, loss, or damage in connection with or arising out of any commercial decisions made on the basis of the information contained herein. The reader of this report is strongly advised not to use the content of this report in isolation, but to take the information contained herein together with other market information and to formulate his/her own views, interpretations, and opinions thereon. The reader is strongly advised to seek appropriate legal and professional advice before entering into commercial transactions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report is a compilation of the insights of a wide range of individuals across several continents. It would not be possible without the hundreds of individuals who shared critical information about their organisations. We would also like to thank the following individuals for sharing their time, insights, and support: David Álvarez García, Sharon Brooks, Joe Bull, Coralie Calvet, Guy Duke, Sebastian Dunnett, Jon Ekstrom, David Hill, Celine Jacob, Alessandro Leonardi, Louise Martland, Klaus Michor, Claude Napoleone, Jessica Nordin, Fabian Quétier, Baptiste Regnery, Claire Pellegrin, and Martin Szaramowicz.

Graphics by Clarise Frechette Design, LLC (<u>www.clarisefrechette.com</u>).

This page intentionally left blank.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1						
2.	Biodiversity Mitigation: the Basics							
3.	Scope and Methodology	6						
4.	Compliance Offsets and Compensation Programme Frameworks in Europe	8						
5.	Market Overview	12						
6.	Impact	15						
7.	Location	17						
8.	Project Design	18						
9.	Buyers	19						
10.	Country Profiles	21						
10.1	1 Germany	21						
10.2	2 United Kingdom	21						
10.3	3 France	22						
10.4	10.4 Italy							
10.5	5 Spain	24						
12.	Outlook	26						
13.	Bibliography	28						

FIGURES, MAPS, TABLES, AND BOXES

Figures

Figure 1: The Mitigation Hierarchy Concept	2
Figure 2: Number of Compliance Programmes in Europe by Compensatory Mitigation Type	9
Figure 3: Programme Equivalency Requirements by Compensatory Mitigation Type in Europe	12
Figure 4: Projects by Compensatory Mitigation Type, Number, and Impact in 2015	13
Figure 5: Number of Implemented Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Projects by Driver Type and Scale, 2015	14
Figure 6: Transacted Value by Compensatory Mitigation Type, 2011-2015	14
Figure 7: Land Area Conserved by Most Frequently Reported Conservation Designations, 2015	16
Figure 8: Land Area of Implemented Offsets and Compensation Projects by Management Intervention	18
Figure 9: Share of Land Area Conserved by Offsets and Compensation Projects by Land Ownership Type, 2015	19
Figure 10: Project Protection Duration by Number of Projects and Hectares Protected, 2015	19

Maps

Мар	1:	Programmes	by	Compensatory	Mitigation	Type in Europe,	2015	8
-----	----	------------	----	--------------	------------	-----------------	------	---

Tables

Table 1: Features of Offsets and Compensation Mechanisms	3
Table 2: Challenges and Design Recommendations in Biodiversity Offsetting	4
Table 3: Respondents Breakdown by Country	7
Table 4: Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Programmes in Europe, 2015	9
Table 5: Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Activity in Europe: Number and Impact of Projects by Project Status, 2015	12
Table 6: Number of Projects per Country by Status and Total Area Reported, 2015	17
Table 7: Buyers by Location, and Buyer Sectors by Value, Number, and Average Project Size Funded	20

Boxes

Box 1: The BBOP Principles	5
Box 2: Case Study: Environment Bank in the United Kingdom	22
Box 3: Case Study: CDC Biodiversité's "Biodiversity Offsets Supply" Pilot Project in France	23
Box 4: Case Study: Lombardy's Green Fund in Italy	24
Box 5: Case-study: ECO@CSA in Spain	25

ACRONYMS

BBOP Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme Defra Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs EU **European Union IUCN** International Union for Conservation of Nature NCFF Natural Capital Financing Facility SAC Special Area of Conservation SCI Site of Community Interest SPA Special Protection Area

GLOSSARY

Advance mitigation: Mitigation activities implemented prior to development impacts.

Avoidance: Measures taken to avoid creating impacts from the outset of project development, such as careful spatial or temporal placement of elements of infrastructure, in order to completely avoid impacts on certain components of biodiversity.

Compensation: See "Financial compensation."

Credit: A defined unit of environmental goods or services that can be applied toward compliance with a permit, held, traded, sold or retired. Credits may be measured in terms of mass, acreage, functional units, or other assessment methods. In biodiversity markets a credit is a defined unit representing the accrual or attainment of ecological functions and/or services at a compensatory mitigation site or within a compensatory mitigation programme.

Environmental Impact Assessment: A formal process, including public consultation, in which all relevant environmental consequences of a project are identified and assessed before authorisation is granted.

Financial compensation: A third-party mechanism that collects and administers fees from developers to offset their impacts to biodiversity. The money may go directly towards compensating biodiversity loss or to more indirect biodiversity-related projects (i.e., funding protected area management or research).

Like-for-like equivalency: Conservation (through a biodiversity offset) that closely resembles the species composition, habitat structure and/or ecosystem function as that affected by the development project, in close proximity to the impact site and without temporal loss of biodiversity values. Also referred to as "in-kind."

Like-for-like or better equivalency: Conservation (through a biodiversity offset) that meets the standards of like-for-like equivalency, or results in species composition, habitat structure, and/or ecosystem function of higher conservation significance than that affected by the project.

Minimisation: Measures taken to reduce the duration, intensity and/or extent of impacts (including direct, indirect and cumulative impacts, as appropriate) that cannot be completely avoided, as far as is practically feasible.

Mitigation: This terms refers to the overall process proscribed by the mitigation hierarchy of avoiding, minimising, restoring/rehabilitating, and then offsetting or compensating for negative impacts to biodiversity.

Mitigation bank ("bank"): A site, or suite of sites, where resources (e.g., wetlands, streams, habitat, species) are restored, established, enhanced and/or preserved for the purpose of providing compensatory mitigation for future impacts. In general, a mitigation bank sells compensatory mitigation credits to developers whose obligation to provide compensatory mitigation is then transferred to the mitigation bank sponsor. Also referred to as a "habitat bank" or "species bank."

Mitigation hierarchy: A process for managing negative impacts of a development project in order to achieve no net loss of biodiversity or net gain. The mitigation hierarchy consists of four sequential steps: avoid, minimise, restore/rehabilitate, and offset/compensate. Within the mitigation hierarchy framework, offsets and compensation are undertaken only as a last resort after all other reasonable measures have been taken first. Correct application of the mitigation hierarchy is widely considered a fundamental best practice for compensatory mitigation.

Natura 2000: A network of nature protection areas in the European Union. Natura 2000 sites include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) designated under the Habitats Directive and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) designated under the Birds Directive. SPAs are established by Member States themselves. SACs are selected by the European Commission from a list of sites submitted by Member States.

Net gain: A target for a development project in which the losses associated with impacts on biodiversity, ecosystem function, or ecosystem services caused by the project are exceeded by measures taken to avoid and minimise the project's impacts, to undertake restoration, and finally to offset or compensate for the residual impacts.

No net loss: A target for a development project in which the impacts on biodiversity, ecosystem function, or ecosystem services caused by the project are balanced or outweighed by measures taken to avoid and minimise the project's impacts, to undertake restoration, and finally to offset or compensate for the residual impacts, so that no loss remains. Where the gain exceeds the loss, the term "net gain" may be used.

Offset: This term refers to a quantified environmental benefit that is designed to compensate for any residual adverse impacts to habitat, environmental functions, or ecosystem services that cannot be avoided, minimised, and/or rehabilitated or restored. Offsets can take the form of positive management interventions such as restoration of degraded habitat, arrested degradation, or averted risk. Averted risk refers to protecting areas where there is imminent or projected loss of biodiversity. The goal of biodiversity offsets is to achieve no net loss and preferably a net gain of biodiversity on the ground with respect to species composition, habitat structure, ecosystem function, and people's use and cultural values associated with biodiversity. Offsets can be implemented by either the party directly responsible for adverse impacts or a subcontractor of that party (known as "one-off offsets") or by a third party developing offset credits in advance of impacts (known as "mitigation banking").

One-off offset: "Do-it-yourself" offsetting conducted by the developer or a subcontractor (as opposed to a third party). Also known in the United States as "permittee-responsible mitigation," in which the permittee is responsible for compensatory mitigation of adverse impacts.

Programme: The overarching system that facilitates transactions between buyers and sellers, linked by a common administrator and/or market infrastructure (such as an exchange mechanism, crediting protocol, or regulatory framework). A programme can encompass many distinct projects.

Project: A site, or suite of sites, where restoration, enhancement, or other resource conservation actions are implemented.

Rehabilitation/restoration: Measures taken to rehabilitate degraded ecosystems or restore cleared ecosystems following exposure to impacts that cannot be completely avoided and/or minimised.

Relaxed equivalency: Conservation (through a biodiversity offset) where offset actions do not result in similar or the same species composition, habitat structure, and/or ecosystem function as that affected by the project, or conservation where actions are a significant distance from the impact site or entail temporal loss. Also referred to as "out-of-kind."

Temporal loss: A deficit in biodiversity values that exists for a period of time after negative impacts from development and before an offset site is mature, e.g., reaches full ecosystem function or desired species composition/habitat structure. Temporal loss may be addressed through advance mitigation, discounting, or other risk mitigation approaches.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, a global review of the threats posed to biodiversity and ecosystem services by humans, suggests that the main danger to biodiversity in this century is fragmentation, degradation, or destruction of habitats due to land use change for agriculture and development (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). In that assessment, Europe had the dubious honour of having the greatest degree of human-induced habitat fragmentation of any continent.

A year after the Millennium Assessment was launched, world leaders at the 2002 World Summit on Sustainable Development agreed on a target of "a significant reduction in the current rate of loss of biological diversity" by 2010–a first major step in global action on biodiversity loss. That goal was actually less ambitious than the one Europe set for itself: European heads of state had already announced a plan to put a full *halt* to the decline of biologiversity in the European Union and to restore habitats and natural systems by 2010.

A 2006 communication from the European Commission reaffirmed those goals even as it admitted that a "real risk of failure" existed (European Commission 2006b). By 2010, 65% of priority habitats were in "unfavourable" conservation status primarily due to human impacts, and an estimated 25% of animal species in Europe faced extinction.

When Europe failed to meet the 2010 target, a new strategy in 2010 moved the goalposts to 2020. Yet a mid-term review in 2015 still found "overall negative trends" in biodiversity and ecosystem health compared with the 2010 baseline and again called for stronger efforts (European Commission 2015). The mid-term review warned that opportunity costs of failure to meet the 2020 target could exceed €50 billion (B) annually, and that one in six jobs in the European Union depended on nature.

As Europe struggles to reverse the trend of biodiversity loss and ecosystem services degradation, attention has turned to the major driver of the decline: development. Linking development permissions to requirements that the developer make every effort to **avoid**,¹ **minimise**, **restore** or **rehabilitate**, and then **offset** impacts to biodiversity, a concept known as **mitigation**, offers an opportunity to expand protections for biodiversity beyond what is currently covered by regulation. Mitigation requirements can also generate new finance for conservation and create incentives to protect biodiversity. In cases where negative impacts from development are unavoidable, **offsets and financial compensation** requirements (collectively referred to in this report as "offsets and compensation" or "compensatory mitigation") can ensure that equivalent or equally ecologically valuable resources are restored or re-established, ensuring that **no net loss** or even a **net gain** of biodiversity is achieved.

This is the potential of offsets and compensation in theory, at any rate. Legitimate concerns have arisen regarding the efficacy of biodiversity offsets and compensation in actual application. Some critiques are practical: will compliance and enforcement be adequate? Will the **mitigation hierarchy** really be fully applied, or will offsetting simply be a cover for "green-lighting" inappropriate development? Can monitoring, reporting, and verification practices effectively track no net loss over the long term? Other concerns are ethical in nature: Can cultural and spiritual values associated with specific places or ecosystem functions ever really be offset? For the individual animals and plants losing their homes to human development, what good is offsetting?

Some following the current debate may not be aware that biodiversity offsets and compensation actually have a long history in Europe. We believe that ecosystem market mechanisms, properly applied, have tremendous potential to contribute to conservation-but that they can do so only when transparency exists and decision-makers have access to good information. In that spirit, this report aims to benchmark the scope and scale of both compliance-driven and voluntary biodiversity offsets and compensation in Europe as of 2015. We also provide a basic overview of fundamental concepts, international best practice, and design recommendations for effective biodiversity offsets and compensation. It is our hope that this report functions as a useful resource in understanding

¹ All terms in **bold blue** text are defined in the Glossary section of this report.

current practice and trends, in order to better inform decision-making going forward, and in identifying where new opportunities may exist to strengthen existing mitigation mechanisms or appropriately apply them in new contexts.

2. BIODIVERSITY MITIGATION: THE BASICS

This report tracks biodiversity offsets and compensation driven by the mitigation hierarchy (Figure 1). The mitigation hierarchy is a set of steps for achieving no net loss of biodiversity. When a development project, such as construction of a new road, is likely to have negative impacts for biodiversity, the mitigation hierarchy dictates the following process. First, potential negative impacts are assessed (Step 1 in Figure 1) and then avoided to the greatest extent possible (Step 2). Next, impacts that cannot be avoided are minimised (Step 3) and habitat is restored or rehabilitated (Step 4) as much as possible. Finally, *as a last resort* any residual negative impacts are offset or compensated for (Step 5). Typically, offsets aim to deliver greater biodiversity values (in terms of land area or habitat quality) than those that have been lost, in order to achieve net gain.



Compensatory Mitigation Types

We distinguish between three primary forms of biodiversity compensatory mitigation: **one-off offsets**, **financial compensation**, and **mitigation banking** (Table 1). One-off offsets refer to actions undertaken to compensate for residual adverse impacts to biodiversity directly by the party responsible for those impacts (or a subcontractor of that party). Alternatively, the impacting entity might instead set aside funds for biodiversity management or

protection, or make a financial contribution to an existing environmental fund-a practice referred to in this report as financial compensation. Finally, in some cases the impacting entity might be able to purchase offset **credits** from a **mitigation bank** operated by a third party that has already carried out **advance mitigation**, e.g., actions to restore, enhance, create, or protect biodiversity values prior to any negative impacts from development. Developers can also create their own mitigation banks to ensure a supply for credits for future projects.

Drivers

Offsets and compensation mechanisms seek to internalise the costs to society of biodiversity loss. For example, if a company is required by regulation to offset or compensate for its residual impacts to species or habitats, it must either bear those costs or choose to develop elsewhere, where impacts will be lower. Similarly, new incentives for conservation can be created. For example, landowners may realise they can profit from conserving biodiversity values by developing a mitigation bank.

Offsets and compensation are usually compliance-driven. Regulations can require that the mitigation hierarchy is applied in development, establish legal protections for specific species or habitats, and set limits (such as no net loss of wetlands) on acceptable loss. Although development projects with net negative impacts to biodiversity may still be approved if there is overriding public interest, the idea is to encourage development in places where impacts are minimal.

Developers might also offset their biodiversity impacts voluntarily, driven by ethical or philanthropic motives, or to manage reputational and brand concerns. Some voluntary activities are carried out in anticipation of forthcoming regulations, known as pre-compliance offsets or compensation.

Table 1: Features of Offsets and Compensation Mechanisms								
	One-Off Offsets	Financial Compensation	Mitigation Banking					
Driver	Compliance or voluntary	Compliance or voluntary	Compliance					
Policy Examples	Offsets under various Environmental Impact Assessment laws	Brazil's Industrial impact compensation	United States wetland mitigation banking					
Implementation Complexity	Medium	Low	High					
Required Market Infrastructure	Low to medium	Low	High					
Broad-Scale/Landscape Conservation Potential	Less likely	Dependent on design	More likely					
Ecological Effectiveness	Dependent on design and enforcement	Dependent on design and enforcement	Dependent on design and enforcement					
Who Carries Out Compensatory Mitigation?	The developer	Government or non- governmental organisation managing financial compensation mechanism	Third-party banker, government, or developer					
Transparency	Less likely	Moderately likely	More likely					

Source: Adapted from Madsen et al 2010.

Best Practice in Offsetting

Achieving no net loss or net gain through offsetting depends on good offset design. Project developers and regulators face a number of challenges, from choosing metrics and demonstrating equivalence, to managing inherent uncertainties in ecological restoration and project performance. Effective offsetting frameworks require careful consideration of these challenges. Table 2 summarises typical challenges and common design recommendations in the current literature on biodiversity offsetting.

The Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP) is a collaborative network of more than 80 organisations and individuals involved in offsetting policy and practice including companies, financial institutions, government agencies and civil society organisations. BBOP has developed a set of principles for international best practice in biodiversity offsets, informed by the on-the-ground experiences of its business partners (Box 1). BBOP also released a Standard on Biodiversity Offsets in 2012 to guide companies and auditors in designing and implementing offsets in accordance with these principles (BBOP 2012).

Table 2: Challenges and Design Recommendations in Biodiversity Offsetting								
Problem	Description	Design Recommendations						
Currency	Choosing metrics for measuring biodiversity	Use multiple or compound metrics Incorporate measure of ecological function as well as biodiversity						
No Net Loss	Defining requirements for demonstrating no net loss of biodiversity	Measure no net loss against dynamic baseline, incorporating trends State whether no net loss is at project or landscape level Consider discounting rate						
Equivalence	Demonstrating equivalence between biodiversity losses and gains	Do not allow "out of kind" trading unless "trading up" from losses that have little or no conservation value						
Longevity	Defining how long offset schemes should endure	Offsets should last at least as long as the impacts of development Offsets should be adaptively managed for change						
Time lag	Deciding whether to allow a temporal gap between development and offset gains	Require offsets to be delivered through biodiversity banking mechanisms						
Uncertainty	Managing for uncertainties throughout the offset process	Development of a framework for uncertainty in offsets is a research requirement						
Reversibility	Defining how reversible development impacts must be	Define reversibility Require all biodiversity offsets to be reversible						
Thresholds	Defining threshold biodiversity values beyond which offsets are not acceptable	Define explicit thresholds for impacts that cannot be offset						

Source: Bull et al. 2013.

Box 1: The BBOP Principles

These principles establish a framework for designing and implementing biodiversity offsets and verifying their success. Biodiversity offsets should be designed to comply with all relevant national and international law, and planned and implemented in accordance with the Convention on Biological Diversity and its ecosystem approach, as articulated in National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans.

- 1. Adherence to the mitigation hierarchy: A biodiversity offset is a commitment to compensate for significant residual adverse impacts on biodiversity identified after appropriate avoidance, minimisation and on-site rehabilitation measures have been taken according to the mitigation hierarchy.
- 2. Limits to what can be offset: There are situations where residual impacts cannot be fully compensated for by a biodiversity offset because of the irreplaceability or vulnerability of the biodiversity affected.
- 3. Landscape context: A biodiversity offset should be designed and implemented in a landscape context to achieve the expected measurable conservation outcomes taking into account available information on the full range of biological, social, and cultural values of biodiversity and supporting an ecosystem approach.
- 4. **No net loss:** A biodiversity offset should be designed and implemented to achieve *in situ* [e.g., on-site or locally], measurable conservation outcomes that can reasonably be expected to result in no net loss and preferably a net gain of biodiversity.
- 5. Additional conservation outcomes: A biodiversity offset should achieve conservation outcomes above and beyond results that would have occurred if the offset had not taken place. Offset design and implementation should avoid displacing activities harmful to biodiversity to other locations.
- 6. **Stakeholder participation:** In areas affected by the project and by the biodiversity offset, the effective participation of stakeholders should be ensured in decision-making about biodiversity offsets, including their evaluation, selection, design, and implementation and monitoring.
- 7. Equity: A biodiversity offset should be designed and implemented in an equitable manner, which means the sharing among stakeholders of the rights and responsibilities, risks and rewards associated with a project and offset is in a fair and balanced way, respecting legal and customary arrangements. Special consideration should be given to respecting both internationally and nationally recognised rights of indigenous peoples and local communities.
- 8. **Long-term outcomes:** The design and implementation of a biodiversity offset should be based on an adaptive management approach, incorporating monitoring and evaluation, with the objective of securing outcomes that last at least as long as the project's impacts and preferably in perpetuity.
- 9. **Transparency:** The design and implementation of a biodiversity offset, and communication of its results to the public, should be undertaken in a transparent and timely manner.
- 10. Science and traditional knowledge: The design and implementation of a biodiversity offset should be a documented process informed by sound science, including an appropriate consideration of traditional knowledge.

Source: BBOP 2013.

3. SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

This report summarises findings from a research study conducted during April through December 2016 gathering data on the size, scope, and direction of biodiversity offsets and compensation mechanisms in Europe. Our research scope included both European Union (EU) Member States and non-EU countries i.e., Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Albania, Switzerland, Macedonia, and Montenegro.

Data was collected through a survey disseminated online to programme administrators, project developers, and other market actors; semi-structured telephone interviews with the same group and with other experts in the field; and desk research investigating programme reports, donor reports and databases, academic journal articles, project registries, and other primary and secondary sources.

We identified a total of 65 **programmes** and 180 implemented or in-development **projects** as of 2015. A programme is the overarching system facilitating transactions between buyers and sellers, linked by a common administrator and/or market infrastructure. Given the variety of programme frameworks supporting biodiversity mitigation, our definition of programmes included all of the following examples.

- 1. Legal requirements and policy context (national, state or municipal) within which a biodiversity offset can be designed and implemented
- 2. Specific programmes administered by a project developer or agency
- 3. EU regulations such as the Habitats Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) requiring compensatory measures that have been transposed at the national or subnational level into legislation and policy

A programme can encompass many distinct projects. Projects are defined as the specific site, or suite of sites, where restoration, enhancement, or other resource conservation actions are implemented for the purposes of marketing the resulting ecosystem service assets or outcomes to buyers. We collect data on transactions and impacts primarily at the project level.

"Implemented" means there are "shovels in the ground," e.g., conservation actions have begun to be carried out, even if conservation benefits may not begin to accrue for some time and all transactions associated with the project have not yet been completed. "In development" means that a project is still in a planning stage.

While this study aims to offer an overview of biodiversity offsets and compensation activity in Europe, it is by no means comprehensive. Given finite time and resources, a broad scope, the inherent limitations of survey-based research, and the opacity of many compensatory mitigation programmes, we cannot capture all activity. Some project developers are more willing to share data than others; some programmes make more data publicly available through registries and other means. For example, Germany's Impact Mitigation Regulation (*Eingriffsregelung*) is prominent throughout this report. This is in part because it is the largest European ecological compensation programme. But it is also because many regional programme administrators also maintain easily accessed public registries of compensatory interventions.

Throughout the report we have tried to provide details on the sample sizes of data on which our analysis is based, to provide some sense of our confidence in findings. We do not extrapolate from the data; all findings can reasonably be considered a conservative or minimal estimate of actual activity. A list of programmes and projects by country is provided in Table 3.

Table 3: Respondents Breakdown by Country							
Country	Number of Programmes Identified	Number of Projects Identified					
Austria	5	2					
Belgium	2	7					
Denmark	2	0					
Finland	4	1					
France	5	9					
Germany	8	65					
Hungary	0	1					
Iceland	1	1					
Italy	2	63					
The Netherlands	6	2					
Norway	1	3					
Spain	6	2					
Sweden	5	11					
Switzerland	1	5					
United Kingdom	14	8					
EU-level	3	-					
TOTAL	65	180					

Notes: EU-level regulations that have been transposed into national regulation are counted only once, at the EU-level. Thus the "Programmes" count for countries includes only individual countries' own unique national or subnational programmes.

This report also presents information about the current status and practices of selected country-level projects and programmes with the aim of providing information on important regulations, institutions, and experiences implementing offsets and compensation in Europe. Case studies were selected using a logical framework developed in alignment with current European policies on environmental impacts compensation that included the following questions.

- 1. Is the programme related to the Habitats Directive Article 6 [3] and [4] (Council Directive 92/43/EEC), and/or the Birds Directive Article 4[4] (Directive 2009/147/EC)?
- 2. Is the programme related to the Environmental Impact Assessment (Directive 2011/92/EU) or Strategic Environmental Assessment Directives (Directive 2001/42/EC)?
- 3. Is the programme related to the Environmental Liability Directive (Directive 2004/35/EC)?

- 4. Does the programme preserve/establish/enhance protected/priority land for species or habitat?
- 5. Is there any monetary transaction involved in the programme to mitigate environmental impacts? If not, how does the scheme finance biodiversity compensatory mitigation?
- 6. Is the programme national, regional, or locally applied?
- 7. Is the programme voluntary or mandatory (i.e., regulated by legislation)?

A total of four European compensation programmes were selected as case studies. Data was collected through semi-structured phone interviews with key actors. A research framework (Chavarria 2017, Leonardi 2016) was used to guide the semi-structured interviews and collect data about each programme's objectives, activity, scientific basis, and implementation.

4. COMPLIANCE OFFSETS AND COMPENSATION PROGRAMME FRAMEWORKS IN EUROPE



Three major EU-level regulatory frameworks include compensatory mitigation elements: the Birds and Habitats Directives, the Environmental Liability Directive, and Environmental Impact Assessment frameworks (Table 3). Each are transposed into national laws by all Member States.

In addition to EU-level compensation frameworks transposed into national laws, as of 2015, 12 countries had their own national or subnational programme frameworks requiring some form of compensatory mitigation for impacts to biodiversity and the environment (Table 4). The majority (52%) of programmes allow only one-off offsets (Figure 2). But nearly as many (48%) permit financial compensation, banking, or both. For instance, within seven programmes regulators have an established preference for one-off offsets delivered by the impacting party. But they will accept financial compensation as an alternative or a last resort.



Figure 2: Number of Compliance Programmes in Europe by Compensatory Mitigation Type

Notes: Based on 53 programmes reporting compensatory mitigation type as of 2015.

Offsets and compensation frameworks each have their own distinct triggers. The Birds and Habitats Directives for example focus on impacts to the EU network of protected areas known as **Natura 2000** sites. Other frameworks cover accidental environmental damages, impacts to domestically important species or habitats, or negative impacts to biodiversity values in general.

Table 4: Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Programmes in Europe, 2015								
Supranational Compliance Offsets and Compensation Programmes (Transposed into National Laws)								
NameFinancial One-Off OffsetsFinancial Compen- SationMitigation BankingCompensatory Mitigation triggersEquiv Requi-								
Birds and Habitats Directives compensation	V			Natura 2000 sites	Like-for-like			
Environmental Liability Directive compensation	~	~		Negative environmental impacts, particularly to species habitats protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives	Relaxed			
Environmental Impact Assessment compensation	V	~		Accidental environmental damages	Like-for-like or better			

Table 4 (continued)							
National Compliance Offsets and Compensation Programmes							
Country	Equivalency Requirements						
Belgium	\checkmark	\checkmark		Biodiversity in general	Like-for-like		
Denmark	\checkmark			Protected habitats and species, forests, environment	Unclear		
Finland	\checkmark	\checkmark		Natura 2000	Unclear		
France	\checkmark		\checkmark	Environment; protected habitats and species, biodiversity in general	Like-for-like		
Germany	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Protected habitats and species, environment	Relaxed, Like- for-like or better		
Iceland	~			Conservation areas, ecosystems, geological formations and landscape features	Unclear		
Italy	\checkmark			Forests	Like-for-like		
The Netherlands	\checkmark	~		National Nature Network	Like-for-like		
The Netherlands	\checkmark	\checkmark		Protected species	Like-for-like		
The Netherlands			\checkmark	Natura 2000, National Nature Network	Relaxed		
Spain			\checkmark	Natura 2000, natural resources	Like-for-like or better		
Sweden	V			Natura 2000, protected areas, watercourses, areas of "high environmental or cultural priority," impacts from road building and other large infrastructure projects	Like-for-like or better		
Sweden		\checkmark		Impacts on fisheries from hydropower or coastal development	Unclear		
Switzerland	V	V		Protected areas, Areas of Special Conservation Interest, sites of national or local importance, sites important for biodiversity	Like-for-like or better		
United Kingdom	\checkmark		\checkmark	Natura 2000, Sites of Special Scientific Interest, biodiversity in general	Like-for-like or better		

Table 4 (continued)								
Subnational Compliance Offsets and Compensation Programmes								
Financial One-OffFinancial Compen- SationMitigation BankingEquivalency Compensatory Mitigation TriggersEquivalency Requirements								
Austria	\checkmark	\checkmark		Protected habitats and species, biodiversity in general	Unclear			
France			~	Environment, protected habitats and species, biodiversity	Like-for-like			
Germany		\checkmark	\checkmark	Protected habitats and species, ecosystem functions	Relaxed			
Germany ✓ ✓			Changes in the shape or use of land, or the groundwater level which may significantly or permanently affect the performance of the natural environment or the landscape	Relaxed				
Italy		\checkmark		Development of agricultural lands	Relaxed			
The Netherlands		\checkmark		Natura 2000, National Nature Network	Unclear			
Spain	\checkmark			Protected areas, biodiversity, unprotected areas of significance	Varies			
Sweden		\checkmark		Natural areas in the city of Helsingborg	Relaxed			

Programmes also differ in terms of equivalency requirements, i.e., how similar offset sites must be to the original impacted habitat(s) in terms of in size, structure, function, or species or habitat composition (Figure 3). Comparing equivalency requirements between the three types of compensatory mitigation programmes, we find that regulatory frameworks accepting only one-off offsets were responsible for both the strictest equivalency requirements but also the largest share of programmes with relaxed requirements. Third-party offsets and compensation most often required that habitat restoration, enhancement, or creation focused on "like-for-like or better" (e.g., higher biodiversity-value) habitats.



Figure 3: Programme Equivalency Requirements in Europe by Compensatory Mitigation Type

Notes: Based on 32 programmes reporting on compensatory mitigation type and equivalency requirements.

5. MARKET OVERVIEW

Table 5: Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Activity in Europe: Number and Impact of Projectsby Project Status, 2015							
	Compliance Projects Voluntary Projects						
	Number	Area (ha)	Number	Area (ha)			
Implemented	143	73,914	8	20			
In Development	24	46,903	3	-			
TOTAL	167	120,817	11	20			

Notes: Based on 178 projects reporting both regulatory driver and status information, representing a total of 120,837 ha of implemented or in development project area. For two projects, data on either regulatory driver or status was unavailable.

This study identified 180 implemented or in-development projects that used biodiversity offsets and compensation mechanisms in pursuit of no net loss or net gain of biodiversity in Europe in 2015. Most (93%) were compliance projects, meaning that regulatory obligations were the primary driver for buyers in funding offsets or compensation (Table 5). Projects reported that biodiversity conservation activities were implemented on 73,914 hectares (ha) as of the end of 2015 with another 46,903 ha in the pipeline (Table 5). This figure underestimates the actual impact of compensatory mitigation in Europe, since slightly less than 60% of projects reported land area data.



Drivers

Ninety-five percent of implemented projects tracked were compliance driven, shaped by EU, national, or subnational regulations or policy directives (Figure 5). At the EU level, all Member States are required to provide compensatory habitat for any protected habitat under the Birds and Habitats Directives that is damaged by development activities. Many national, regional, and local governments have also developed their own frameworks for compensatory mitigation. Local/municipal regulatory frameworks were particularly important drivers of biodiversity mitigation, especially in Germany. Additional country-specific information is available on page 21.

Meanwhile, voluntary offsets and compensation projects were identified in Austria, Finland, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Sweden, and the United Kingdom.

Figure 5: Number of Implemented Biodiversity Offsets and Compensation Projects by Driver Type and Scale, 2015



Notes: Based on 147 projects providing data on specific regulatory driver and scale.

Value

Transaction data for biodiversity offsets and compensation projects in Europe proved very difficult to collect, whether due to sensitivities around sharing financial data or difficulties on the part of projects in accurately reporting total spending and isolating costs linked to offsets or compensation from general project development costs. We documented €95.8M in transactions between 1996 and 2015, and €62.7M for the five-year period 2011-2015. That value is associated with 75 projects and 4,530 ha of project area, e.g., only 6% of total area reported under conservation. Thus these figures likely represent only a fraction of actual spending. One-off offsets accounted for 85% of reported transactions between 2011 and 2015 (Figure 6).



Notes: Based on 75 projects reporting transactions for 2011-2015.

One-off offsets reported another €2.9M committed for projects still in development as of 2015. Mitigation banks said that credits in development will be worth between €2.3M and €6.8M, though actual transaction value will depend on the final negotiated prices for credits.

6. IMPACT

Most compensatory mitigation activity to date has been driven by one-off offsets, which has accounted for more than 90% of total land area conserved as of 2015 (Figure 4). But mitigation banks reported significant activity in the pipeline, with 21 new projects in development representing at least 46,826 ha slated for habitat restoration, protection, and/or creation in the coming years. However, it is more difficult to predict future activity for one-off offsets than it is for banks, since these projects depend on new development triggering regulatory obligations. Thus compensatory mitigation planning in advance of impacts may not be required.²

One-off projects have also historically tended to be much larger in scale than other forms of compensatory mitigation. Across Europe, the average size of an operational one-off offset project in 2015 was 911 ha, compared to mitigation banking's average project size of 204 ha and financial compensation's average size of 11 ha.

² Financial compensation comprised less than 1% of reported area conserved. Impact, as measured in land area restored or protected, is difficult to track for this mitigation type, since compensatory activities may take place long after funds are transferred. Moreover, compensations funds in some cases can be spent on other activities like research, monitoring, or education/outreach instead of land conservation.



Figure 7: Land Area Conserved by Most Frequently Reported Conservation Designations, 2015

Notes: Based on 48 projects reporting conservation designations for 98,128 ha of land.

Compensatory mitigation efforts focused on a reported 395 different habitat types and 169 individual animal and plant species. Collectively, projects restored, re-established, or protected at least 45,811 ha of designated Natura 2000 sites (Figure 7). Offsets and compensation were also used to achieve domestic biodiversity conservation goals, with more than 6,900 ha of habitat reported conserved as of 2015 and plans for more than 27,000 ha underway. Projects reported relatively low activity for lands listed under international conservation designations like the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List or the Ramsar Convention.³ Once again, these

³ The IUCN Red List (<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>) is a global catalogue of plants, fungi, and animals including taxonomic information, conservation status, and distribution. It is managed by the International Union for Conservation of Nature. Red List status classifications range include Extinct, Extinct in the Wild, Critically Endangered, Endangered, Vulnerable, Near Threatened, Least Concern, and Data-Deficient. The Ramsar Convention (<u>www.ramsar.org</u>) is an international treaty first ratified in 1971 coordinating national action and international cooperation for wetlands conservation. Contracting Parties implementing the convention in their territories commit to designating wetlands for inclusion on the Ramsar List of Wetlands of International Importance. As of 2017, there are more than 2,200 listed Ramsar Sites around the world.

figures are likely conservative, since data on conservation designation status was not provided for 19% of land area reported.

7. LOCATION

Italy is home to the largest number of reported implemented projects, followed by Germany (Table 6). Sweden, France, the United Kingdom, and Belgium also had relatively large numbers of projects reported as implemented or underway.

On the other hand, the Netherlands and Norway led in terms of area as of 2015, together hosting 47,883 ha of offsets and compensation projects as of 2015. In both countries large one-offset projects linked to major infrastructure development have occurred (in the Netherlands' case, a port; in Norway, hydropower development and an armed forces training field).

Table 6: Nur	ber of Projects per Country by Status and Total Area Reported, 2015			
	Implemented Projects	Projects in Development	Total Number of Projects	Total Area Implemented (ha)
Austria	2		2	-
Belgium	7		7	15
Finland	1		1	
France	6	3	9	3,863
Germany	47	18	65	5,707
Hungary	1		1	-
Iceland	1		1	-
Italy	63		63	77
The Netherlands	1	1	2	-
Norway	2	1	3	-
Spain	2		2	-
Sweden	9	2	11	3,647
Switzerland	5		5	21
United Kingdom	6	2	8	191
TOTAL	153	27	180	74,019

Notes: Ecosystem Marketplace only publishes data when at least three respondents have provided data points, in order to protect the confidentiality of our survey respondents. Thus total area data is not publicly available for some countries, although this data is reflected in the Total Area Implemented figure for all of Europe.

8. PROJECT DESIGN

European project developers reported that more than half of total project area (53%) focused on conservation of marine and coastal areas, mainly due to major port projects requiring marine/coastal conservation offsets (Figure 8). Grassland restoration or enhancement (26%) was also a major intervention undertaken by projects. Intervention choice was largely driven by regulatory obligations driving activity towards specific habitats or species of concern.

Projects serving voluntary buyers reported activities on 3,221 ha as of 2015; here, buyers seemed to favour charismatic species or habitats such as bees, wildflower meadows, and old-growth forests.



Notes: Based on 72,319 ha for which intervention was reported.

More than nine in ten hectares (92.6%) reported by projects as restored, enhanced, or conserved were on government-owned and managed lands (Figure 9). Privately owned compensatory mitigation sites and commercial mitigation banks made up roughly equal shares of the remainder.



Notes: Based on 53,016 ha for which land ownership information was reported.

At least 40,822 ha restored, enhanced, or conserved as part of compensatory mitigation efforts will be permanently protected (Figure 10). More than 70% of projects reporting on the length of protection as of 2015 said they would be protecting lands in perpetuity; slightly less than 14% of projects said protections were in place for 21-50 years. Sixteen percent of projects, representing just 3% of total land area tracked, said protection would be for 20 years or fewer as of 2015.



Notes: Based on 44 projects managing 45,598 ha that reported duration of land protection as of 2015

9. BUYERS

A limited number of projects (36) provided detailed information on buyers.

European offsets and compensation buyers most often represented public and private parties involved in major infrastructure projects-highway construction, ports and airports expansion, and energy distribution systems, for

instance (Table 7). Energy generation/distribution and transportation/shipping projects in particular tended to be very large, averaging 15,014 ha and 7,789 ha respectively.

The greatest number of buyers reported were located in Germany, followed by France, the United Kingdom, and Switzerland. All buyers in 2015 reported a compliance driver, meaning that projects were selected and funded based on regulatory obligation. Thus all projects tracked were located in near proximity to buyers' operations; we identified no cases in which payments crossed national boundaries.

Table 7: Buyers by Location, and Buyer Sectors by Value, Number, and Average Project Size Funded
Top Countries by Share of Buyers
Germany: 37%
Switzerland: 14%
Switzenand. 14%
Top Sectors by Value (2011-2015)
National government: €32.9M
Energy generation/distribution: €23.5M
Transportation (private sector): €7.7M
Energy extraction: €2.3M
Local/Municipal government: €0.9M
Top Sectors by Share of Buyers
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24%
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15%
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12%
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9%
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9%
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9% Average Project Size, by Buyer Sector
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9% Average Project Size, by Buyer Sector Energy generation: 15,014 ha
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9% Average Project Size, by Buyer Sector Energy generation: 15,014 ha Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 7,789 ha
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9% Average Project Size, by Buyer Sector Energy generation: 15,014 ha Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 7,789 ha Transportation/Shipping (private sector): 537 ha
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24%Local/Municipal government: 15%Energy generation/distribution: 12%Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9%Energy extraction: 9%Average Project Size, by Buyer SectorEnergy generation: 15,014 haTransportation/Shipping (public sector): 7,789 haTransportation/Shipping (private sector): 537 haEnergy extraction: 175 ha
Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 24% Local/Municipal government: 15% Energy generation/distribution: 12% Industrial Processes (non-energy): 9% Energy extraction: 9% Average Project Size, by Buyer Sector Energy generation: 15,014 ha Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 7,789 ha Transportation/Shipping (public sector): 537 ha Energy extraction: 175 ha Local/Municipal government: 37 ha

10. COUNTRY PROFILES

10.1 Germany

Compliance frameworks

Germany's primary driver of mitigation, the Impact Mitigation Regulation (*Eingriffsregelung* in German), was established in the German Federal Nature Conservation Act in 1976. Its purview is quite broad; most development projects in Germany with impacts to nature and landscapes in general (rather than, for example, impacts only to protected areas or species) require application of the mitigation hierarchy under the Impact Mitigation Regulation (Darbi et. al 2009).⁴

The concept of mitigation banking was first introduced in Germany in 1993, limited to remediation measures triggered by Federal Building and Spatial Planning regulations. Reforms of the Nature Conservation Act in 2002 expanded the use of mitigation banks, known in Germany as "compensation pools" (*Flächenpools*), for any impacts under the Impact Mitigation Regulation (Naumann et al. 2008).

Both public and private entities can establish and manage compensation pools. An estimated 80% of compensation pools in Germany are managed by municipal governments (Naumann et al. 2008). Credits and debits to the pools are calculated through a system of "eco-points" banked to "eco-accounts" (*Öko-Konten*). Calculation methodologies vary by compensation pool, but all are based on habitat maps and habitat lists set at the state level.

Today, hundreds of pool sites have been established across the country (Darbi et al. 2009). Recent data from the state of Bavaria shows over a hundred projects comprising nearly 20,000 ha (BSOE 2015b), for example.⁵ Compensation pools have established their own national association, the Bundesverband, which lobbies on policy matters and promotes awareness of the mechanism.

10.2 United Kingdom

Compliance frameworks

In addition to the EU-level Habitat and Birds Directives, the United Kingdom has several high-level policies in place that support environmental impact mitigation, including its Planning Policy Statement, the 1992 Convention on Biodiversity, the 2005 Sustainable Development Strategy, the published Natural Environment White Paper (Defra 2011c) and the National Planning Policy Framework (DCLG 2012). Within England, the Natural Environment White Paper sets out how offsets strategically applied can deliver improved ecological values in England's network of habitats, while the National Planning Policy Framework mandates that developers minimise their impacts on biodiversity and provide net gains whenever possible (DCLG 2012).

To date there is no compliance framework enabling mitigation banking in the United Kingdom at the national level. However, in 2011 the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) published a pilot offset metric for England. The metric was tested by six pilot banks in 2012-2014 as part of a new voluntary mitigation banking initiative partially funded by Defra (Defra 2011a, Defra 2011b). Defra's stated aim was that biodiversity offsetting could deliver more effective and standardised mitigation, and a more straightforward permitting process for agencies and developers.

⁴ Exceptions sometimes exist in cities where planning is designed to encourage greater urban density rather than development of greenfields, and thus compensatory mitigation requirements are waived.

⁵ Bavaria conserved an average of 2600 ha of land in the form of land-pool annually between 2008 and 2009 (Morandeau and Vilaysack 2012, OECD 2013).

Following the end of the two-year pilot phase in 2014, next steps for mitigation banking in England remain unclear. According to an interim report (CEPL and IEEP 2013) and a final report (Environment Bank 2016), offset projects struggled with a lack of developer interest in pursuing offsets, due to the voluntary nature of the system and difficulty predicting costs associated with implementing the Defra metric. The offsetting pilot was also the subject of significant public debate (Connor 2016), with a public consultation suggesting ambivalence over the proper role of biodiversity offsets and the design of the pilot banking scheme (Defra 2016). Only 53% of respondents felt that the government should support a biodiversity offsetting system at all in England. Respondents opposed to offsets cited concerns that offsetting would lead to net loss of biodiversity rather than net gain, that restoration projects would be unsuccessful, and that market-based approaches were inappropriate in principle. Defra in its final report did not identify any clear next steps for biodiversity offsets and compensation mechanisms, and to date the United Kingdom's Parliament has not supported new policy or regulation that would authorise third-party mitigation for biodiversity impacts.

Box 2: Case Study: Environment Bank in the United Kingdom

Environment Bank is an English private company that brokers biodiversity compensatory mitigation agreements for developers and landowners through mitigation banking projects. All of its clients pursue biodiversity offsets voluntarily. As of the spring of 2016, Environment Bank has worked with more than two dozen local planning authorities in 15 counties on more than 60 planning applications. Credit sales associated with Environment Bank's offset projects total €1.9M to date.

Many transactions have focused on mitigating impacts to grasslands and arable lands of low biodiversity value, among the most frequently impacted environments in England, via offsets that "trade up" by restoring or enhancing areas of higher ecological value.

Environment Bank reports that over 10,000 landowners have shown interest in developing mitigation banks on their lands. In the absence of national-level regulatory drivers in the United Kingdom that would create demand for mitigation credits, the company is working with local authorities to stimulate demand for mitigation credits. For instance the city of York, which has established a no net loss policy, is partnering with Environment Bank to incorporate mitigation banking into its no net loss strategy.

10.3 France

Compliance frameworks

The mitigation hierarchy has been part of French environmental policy since the country adopted its Nature Protection Law in 1976. Reforms to the law in 2007, during which the EU Birds and Habitats Directives were transposed into national law, reiterated the role of the mitigation hierarchy in conserving biodiversity. Emphasis was placed on avoidance and minimisation; under French law compensatory mitigation explicitly should be used only as a last resort when necessary to achieve no net loss of biodiversity.

In 2012, the French Ministry of Ecology, Sustainable Development & Energy published guidelines for use of biodiversity offsets following modifications to the Environmental Impact Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment decrees (Decrees 2012-616 and 2012-995). The revised decrees reiterated the importance of full application of the mitigation hierarchy sequence and recognised a role for offsetting (including the use of banking) in achieving no net loss.

In August 2016, the new Law 2016-1087 for the Recovery of Biodiversity, Nature, and Landscapes codified much of the 2012 guidance, including like-for-like equivalency requirements and principles governing proximity requirements for offsets. The new law also provided an explicit definition of the scope of the mitigation hierarchy. It

further required that application of the mitigation hierarchy must be oriented around specific outcomes for no net loss or net gain, rather than a "means-based" system assessing performance based on costs or implementing restoration actions. Another major change contained in the 2016 law was the recognition of mitigation banking credits as an accepted form of offsets, in addition to one-off offsets or "turnkey" compensatory mitigation wherein a developer contracts with a third party to deliver offsets. A forthcoming decree will define legal accreditation requirements for banks. As of 2017, only one mitigation bank is operational in France (Box 3), and supporters of banking hope that the new law will help foster growth in banking.

Box 3: Case Study: CDC Biodiversité's "Biodiversity Offsets Supply" Pilot Project in France

Since 2008 the French Ministry of Ecology, Sustainable Development & Energy ("the Ministry") has operated an experimental mitigation banking programme called "Biodiversity Offset Supply." The goal of the programme is to provide offset credits for habitat, species and ecosystem functions, promote consideration of biodiversity mitigation and compensation earlier in the development planning phase, and provide empirical experience of the effectiveness of biodiversity offsets in attaining no net loss.

As of 2017, the scheme has created one operational bank, the Operation Cossure (also known as the "Cossure natural assets reserve"). The project is implemented by the CDC Biodiversité. Located in southeastern France in the plains of Crau, the bank consists of 357 ha of former commercial fruit orchards. The site is part of an important corridor for native bird species in the Réserve Naturelle des Coussouls de Crau. Bank developers are working to restore low grassland vegetation habitat for birds and other protected species. Protection of restored habitats is guaranteed for 30 years. After its first five years of operation, the bank has sold 46% of its credits but has not yet met profitability goals. Low demand is attributed to a lack of specific guidelines driving developers to purchase credits and a lack of diversity in the types of credits offered by the Cossure project. Programme administrators note that weak demand translates into a lack of incentives for landowners to develop banks. In 2011, the Ministry initiated a request for proposals to develop more banks offering a more diverse range of credits. Four additional pilots in the Alps, Brittany, and the Paris metropolitan region are under development but not yet operational.

10.4 Italy

Compliance frameworks

The Italian Environmental Norms of the Legislative Decree no. 152/2006 invites developers to compensate for adverse environmental impacts, but does not require mandatory offsetting. Often development projects do not propose mitigation actions equivalent to negative impacts (art 27-5 and art 40-1 of the DPCM 152/2006). Despite a stated preference in Environmental Impact Assessment law and in the Birds and Habitats Directives for compensation, it is still a common practice in Italy to deliberately underestimate impacts to Natura 2000 sites, and not to provide like-for-like compensation (Bassi et al. 2012), especially when impacts do not occur on Natura 2000 sites or in forest areas.

In May 2015, the Italian Government amended the Environmental Stability Law of 2014 to create a basis to develop and enforce new policies protecting ecosystems and their provision of services, and move toward a no net loss initiative. The amendment to the Environmental Stability Law of 2014 authorises the Government to implement payments for ecosystem services (Camera dei Diputati 2016). The amendment opens a new door for environmental compensation mechanisms. The reform came in response to the EU Green Infrastructure Strategy promoting costeffective green infrastructure alternatives, such as ecological corridors, riparian and coastal green belts, multifunctional farms, and wildlife overpasses, to achieve the EU 2020 Biodiversity Strategy. As of the time of this report's writing, no examples exist yet of regulatory initiatives at the national or regional level making use of the 2015 amendment.

Box 4: Case Study: Lombardy's Green Fund in Italy

The Northwest Lombardy Region of Italy created a "Green Fund" in 2009 to collect financial compensation for the loss of agricultural lands due to development projects. All municipalities in Lombardy levy an environmental fee that ranges from 1.5%-5% of the total costs of the development project. Funds are used for permanent environmental improvements within the boundaries of the same municipality depositing the money, and must be spent within three years. Environmental improvements typically focus on management of existing wildlife corridors, urban forests, hedgerows, and grasslands. However, projects can also involve larger-scale ecosystem creation, restoration or management.

The Green Fund is managed by the Lombardy Region Department of Finance, which disburses funds to municipalities when they are ready to execute projects. Each Providence or Mountain Community advises the municipality on areas and priorities for allocating funds, based on the national Italian Forest Plan, regional Ecological Network Plans, and other regional species and ecosystem priorities. The Green Fund also finances monitoring of ecological improvements for two subsequent years.

To date, about 18% of total funds collected since 2009 (nearly €1M) has been used for 63 projects consisting of 16 ha of forest, 5 ha of hedgerows and 38 ha of silvicultural improvements. In an effort to more quickly disburse the remaining 82% of funds, Lombardy region is planning to open a call in 2017 for Ecological Projects to be funded by the Green Fund but implemented by third parties other than municipalities.

10.5 Spain

Compliance frameworks

Anticipating new regulations for mitigation banking at the EU-level for environmental impacts compensation, Spain in 2013 amended its Environmental Evaluation Law of 1988 (Spanish Law 21/2013) to set the stage for development and implementation of mitigation banks. The amended Environmental Evaluation Law includes a disposition (Disposition 8 [4]) that establishes the acquisition of "conservation credits" from mitigation banks as a legal offsetting mechanism recognised by the Agriculture, Food and Environmental Ministry (BOE 2013). However, forthcoming guidance for landowners interested in developing mitigation banks has yet to be published by the Environmental Ministry.

Box 5: Case-study: ECO@CSA in Spain

ECO@CSA is a private company founded in Spain in 2012 that partners with local landowners to develop mitigation banks for biodiversity and other ecosystem services.

Despite recent government initiatives to promote banking as an offsetting alternative in the 2013 Environmental Evaluation Law, a lack of official guidelines and the current Spanish political environment have hindered growth in mitigation banking. In response, ECO@CSA has focused on tapping into corporate social responsibility motivations among developers, for whom banking offers a means to voluntarily compensate for residual environmental impacts.

In July 2016, the Extremadura Region approached ECO@CSA for their input in planning a Regional Conservation Bank. Extremadura is home to one-third of Spain's total protected area and has a history of strong environmental regulation. The collaboration between Extremadura and ECO@CSA will pilot the first mitigation bank in Spain and offer empirical experience for the National Environmental Ministry to consider in its forthcoming rules on mitigation banking.

12. OUTLOOK

European Commission's No Net Loss Initiative Likely to Need Offsets to Achieve Its Goals

The EU Biodiversity Strategy called on the European Commission to develop a No Net Loss initiative for Europe's ecosystems and ecosystem services (European Commission n.d.), a request that was repeated that year by the Environment Council of Ministers (Council of the European Union 2011) and in 2012 by the European Parliament (European Parliament 2012). In 2014, the Commission opened a public consultation to gather views on scope, instruments, and application of a No Net Loss policy (European Commission n.d.c.). A majority of respondents were in favour of offsetting, but many expressed concerns about whether offsets in practice could be correctly implemented to achieve no net loss. Nevertheless, an impact assessment study of No Net Loss policy options published in 2016 suggested that in order to achieve No Net Loss in Europe in the long term, some form of mandatory offsetting measures would be necessary (IEEP 2016).

Lack of Transparency a Barrier to No Net Loss?

At the same time, existing No Net Loss policies and regulation, including frameworks for offsets and compensation, are too often characterized by a lack of transparency in Europe. One recent study (Bull et. al., forthcoming) reviewed data available in the public domain on offsets implementation in France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Sweden. Its authors found that lack of transparency precluded a thorough assessment of how offset projects or broader No Net Loss policies were being implemented. This report's authors encountered similar difficulties in collecting data for this report: whether due to a lack of capacity or political will, regulators and other public agencies in Europe responsible for overseeing offsetting and compensation have made very little information available to the general public about how these mechanisms actually are working on the ground.

Natural Capital Financing Facility Aims to Blaze a Path for Conservation Finance in Europe

In 2014, the European Commission kicked off a three-year pilot of its Natural Capital Financing Facility (NCFF) funded by the European Investment Bank. In its first phase, NCFF has a budget of up to \$141M (€125M) for loans and investments that will support projects taking ecosystem-based approaches to natural resources and climate adaptation challenges. It aims to focus on "bankable" initiatives that can either generate revenue or deliver cost savings, an approach that may prick up the ears of private capital seeking investment-grade conservation projects.

In 2017, the NCFF inked its first loan agreement with Rewilding Europe Capital, an enterprise financing facility based in the Netherlands. Rewilding Europe Capital says it will use NCFF funds to invest in initiatives making a "business case" for conservation and ecological restoration at 20-30 Natura 2000 sites across Europe (European Commission 2017).

Habitat Banking Seeks to Grow Market Share

Habitat banking was responsible for the largest share of new projects (22) and land area (46,826 ha) in the pipeline in 2015, compared to other mitigation types. Yet pilot efforts in France, Spain, the Netherlands, and the UK have met with mixed success, with bank developers citing a lack of regulatory drivers and clear guidance behind weak demand (Box 2, Box 3, Box 5). In France and Spain, forthcoming regulations and guidance seek to streamline permitting processes and ensure that offsetting requirements are equivalent for banks and one-off offsets. Meanwhile in Germany, where banking is well-established but an estimated 80% of banks are publicly managed, there are new signals that private sector actors are interested in developing more banks (Bavarian State Office for the Environment, 2015a).

Forthcoming French Regulations to Support Banking

New legislation in France will seek to address persistent inequalities in regulatory standards for different mitigation types. At present, habitat banks in France face stricter requirements in terms of demonstrating additionality and providing for long-term management of offset sites; bank developers say that these requirements have increased

costs and hurt business. A forthcoming decree on the bank accreditation process is expected to address these issues.

Will the United Kingdom "Brexit" the Habitats Directive, Too?

As the Brexit proceeds in the coming years, some environmental protections may be discarded along with EU membership. United Kingdom government sources in 2017 suggested off-the-record that the Habitats Directive would be repealed as part of a broader effort under Prime Minister Theresa May's government to trim regulation (Financial Times 2017). In that event, a major driver of offsets in the United Kingdom would cease to exist.

13. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- 3441st Council Meeting. 2015. Outcome of the Council Meeting Environment. Brussels, Belgium: PRESS Council of the European Union. www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/env/2015/12/st15380_en15_pdf.
- Aiama, Deviah, Steve Edwards, Gerard Bos, Jonathan Ekstrom, Linda Krueger, Fabien Quétier, Conrad Savy, Bambi Semroc, Martin Sneary, and Leon Bennun. 2015. *No Net Loss and Net Positive Impact Approaches for Biodiversity: exploring the potential application of these approaches in the commercial agriculture and forestry sectors.* Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.
- Bavarian State Office for the Environment. 2015a. "Recognized Ökokontobetreiber. Commercial operator of ecoaccounts." Bavarian State Office for the Environment. Accessed 20 August 2015. http://www.lfu.bayern.de/natur/oekokonto/anerkannte/index.htm.
- Bavarian State Office for the Environment. 2015b. "Ökoflächenkataster Statistics." Bavarian State Office for the Environment. Accessed 5 August 2015. Available at http://www.lfu.bayern.de/natur/oekokonto/statistik/index.htm.
- Bergthaler, Wilhelm. 2013. Ausgleichsflächen: Herausforderungen für eine erfolgreiche Umsetzung Rechtliche Situation in Österreich. Vienna, Austria: Haslinger / Nagele Partner Rechtsanwälte GmbH. http://www.bundesforste.at/fileadmin/naturraummanagement/naturraummanagement/pdf_expertinnenfor um/Ausgleichmassnahmen/01_ExpertInnenforum2013_Bergthaler.pdf.
- Biodiversity Convention Steering Committee. 2006. *Belgium's National Biodiversity Strategy 2006-2016.* Brussels, Belgium: Belgian Coordination Committee for International Environment Policy (CCIEP). http://www.health.belgium.be/sites/default/files/uploads/fields/fpshealth_theme_file/7472454/National%2 Ostrategy%20for%20biodiversity.pdf.
- Böhme, Christa, Arno Bunzel, Britta Deiwick, Alfred Herberg, and Johann Köppel. 2003. *Statusbericht Flächenund Massnahmenpools.* Berlin, Germany: Technische Universität Berlin and Deutsches Institut für Urbanistik. https://difu.de/publikationen/2003/statusbericht-flaechen-und-massnahmenpools.html.
- Boletín Oficial del Estado (BOE). 2013. Ley 21/2013, de 9 de diciembre, de evaluación ambiental. Número 296, Sec. I. Pag 98151. https://www.boe.es/boe/dias/2013/12/11/pdfs/BOE-A-2013-12913.pdf.
- Brownlie, Susie, Kerry ten Kate, Amrei von Hase, and Patrick Maguire. 2016. *Draft Appendices to Corporate Roadmap for NPI on Biodiversity.* Washington DC, USA: Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme.
- Bull, Joseph William, K. Blake Suttle, Ascelin Gordon, Navinder J. Singh, and E.J. Milner-Gulland. 2013. "Review: Biodiversity offsets in theory and practice." *Oryx*, 47 (03): 369-380.
- Bull, Joseph William, Samuel Pelham Lloyd, and Niels Strange. 2017. "Implementation gap between the theory and practice of biodiversity offset multipliers." *Conservation Letters,* February 1.
- Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP). 2016. BBOP Principle on Biodiversity Offsets. http://bbop.forest-trends.org/documents/files/bbop_principles.pdf.
- Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme (BBOP). 2012. *Standard on Biodiversity Offsets*. BBOP, Washington DC.
- Calvet, Coralie, Claude Napoléone, Jean-Michel Salles. 2015. "The Biodiversity Offsetting Dilemma : Between Economic Rationales and Ecological Dynamics." *Sustainability* (7): 7357-7378. doi:10.3390/su7067357.
- Camera dei Diputati. 2016. Disposizioni in materia ambientale per promuovere misure di green economy e per il contenimento dell'uso eccessivo di risorse naturali. http://www.qualenergia.it/sites/default/files/articolo-doc/17PDL0035680.pdf.

- CDC Biodiversité. 2014. *Opération Cossure*. Paris, France: CDC Biodiversité. http://www.cdc-biodiversite.fr/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/PLAQUETTE-COSSURE-FR-BD.pdf.
- Chavarria, Ariadna. 2016. "Transferring the benefit of USA and European No Net Loss policies to Italy a guest post by Ariadna Chavarria." Biodiversity Offsets Blog. Accessed 9 February 2016. http://www.biodiversityoffsets.net/transferring-the-benefit-of-usa-and-european-no-net-loss-policies-toitaly-a-guest-post-by-ariadna-chavarria.
- Chavarria, A. 2017. Ariadna Chavarria, "Biodiversity offsetting: valuation aspects and development of environmental compensation tools" PhD diss., University of Padova, 2017. [forthcoming]
- Collingwood Environmental Planning Limited and the Institute for European Environmental Policy (CEPL and IEPP). 2013. *Evaluation of the Biodiversity Offsetting Pilot Phase, WC 1051. Summary of Interim Report.* http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=11689_WC1051-Summary.
- Collingwood Environmental Planning Limited. 2013. WC1051: Evaluation of the Biodiversity Offsetting Pilot Phase: A review of recent biodiversity offsetting practice in Germany. London, UK: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra).
- Collingwood Environmental Planning Limited. 2014. WC1051: Evaluation of the Biodiversity Offsetting Pilot Programme: Final Report Volume 1. London, UK: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra).
- Commission d'enquête (President : Daniel Dujardin). 2013. *Tome I Rapport de la Commission d'Enquête.* Nîmes, France : Société anonyme OC'VIA. http://www.gard.gouv.fr/content/download/7738/43558/file/RAPPORT%20DE%20LA%20COMMISSION %20D%E2%80%99ENQUETE.pdf.
- Conference Brochure. 2011. *Ecological compensation a new tool in Sweden?* Umeå, Sweden: EnviroEconomics Sweden. http://www.eesweden.com/assets/EkolKompKonf_pm_en.pdf.
- Connor, B. 2016. "Biodiversity offsetting: cast into the wilderness?" British Ecological Society, News and Opinion, February 21. http://britishecologicalsociety.org/biodiversity-offsetting-cast-into-the-wilderness/
- Conway, M., Tucker, G., Allen, B., Dickie, I., Hart, K., Rayment, M., Schulp, C., and van Teeffelen, A. 2013. *Policy Options for an EU No Net Loss Initiative. Report to the European Commission.* Institute for European Environmental Policy, London.
- Costantino, P., and Scialò, A. 2008. La nuova valutazione di impatto ambientale, L'iter secondo il DLgs 152/2006 come modificato DLgs 4/2008. DEI Tipografia del Genio Civile, Rome.
- Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. Official Journal L206, (22 July 1992) P. 0007 - 0050.
- Council of the European Union. EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020: towards implementation draft Council conclusion. Brussels, 2011.
- COWI. 2009. Study concerning the application and the effectiveness of the EIA Directive. European Commission, Department of the Environment. Document No. 2. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/archives/eia/pdf/eia_study_june_09.pdf.
- Cuperus, Ruud, Marco M.G.J. Bakermans, Helias A. Udo de Haes, and Kees J. Canters. 2001. "Ecological compensation in Dutch highway planning." *Environmental Management* (27)1 : 75-89. DOI: 10.1007/s002670010135.

- Darbi, M., Ohlenburg, H., Herberg, A., Wende, W., Skambracks, D. and Herbert, M. 2009. *International Approaches to Compensation for Impacts on Biological Diversity. Final Report.* Dresden: Leibniz Institute of Ecological and Regional Development.
- Darbi, Marianne and Tausch, Christian. 2010. *Loss-Gain calculations in German Impact Mitigation Regulation*. Dresden: Leibniz Institute for Ecological and Regional Development.
- Darbi, Marianne, Kerry ten Kate, Amrei von Hase, and Patrick Maguire. 2016. *Draft Global Inventory of Initiatives on the biodiversity mitigation hierarchy.* Washington DC, USA: Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme. http://bbop.forest-trends.org/pages/draftinventory.
- Darses, Ophelie. 2016. *France's new biodiversity law and implications for no net loss of biodiversity (Webinar October 12th 2016).* Paris, France: Natural resources economics department, French Ministry of the environment, energy and the seas. http://bbop.foresttrends.org/documents/files/frances_new_biodiversity_law_and_implications_for_no_net_loss_of_biodive risty.pdf.
- De Bie, Steven, and Bopp van Dessel. 2011. Compensation for biodiversity loss Advice to the Netherlands' Taskforce on Biodiversity and Natural Resources. Klarenbeek, the Netherlands: De Gemeynt. http://docplayer.net/24184522-Compensation-for-biodiversity-loss.html.
- Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). 2012. National Planning Policy Framework. London: Department for Communities and Local Government.
- Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra). 2011a. *Biodiversity Offsetting Background*. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.
- Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra). 2011b. *Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England's wildlife and ecosystem services*. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.
- Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra). 2011c. The Natural Choice: securing the value of nature. HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/228842/8082.pdf
- Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra). 2013. *Biodiversity Offsetting in England.* https://consult.defra.gov.uk/biodiversity/biodiversity_offsetting/.
- Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra). 2016. *Consultation on biodiversity offsetting in England: Summary of responses.* London: Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs.
- Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 June 2001 on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment. Official Journal L197, (21 July 2001), p. 0030 0037.
- Directive 2004/35/CE of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 April 2004 on environmental liability with regard to the prevention and remedying of environmental damage. Official Journal L143, (30 April 2004), p.56.
- Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds. Official Journal L20, (26 January 2010), p. 7–25.
- Directive 2011/92/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 December 2011 on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment Text with EEA relevance. Official Journal L26, (28 January 2012), p. 1-21.

- Doncaster Council. 2013. *Biodiversity Offsetting in Doncaster: Guidance on the Process.* Doncaster, UK: Doncaster Council. http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/planning/biodiversity-offsetting-in-doncaster.
- Dossier de Presse EDF. 2012. Nouvel Aménagement Hydroélectrique Romanche Gavet (38). Grenoble, France : EDF – Unité de Production Alpes. http://collectivites.edf.com/fichiers/fckeditor/refonte/DPRomanche-Gavet.pdf.
- ECOPLAN. 2013. Finanzielle Anreize bezüglich Biodiversität optimieren : Studie zur Konkretisierung von Ziel 5 der Strategie Biodiversität Schweiz (SBS) im Hinblick auf den Aktionsplan SBS. Bern, Switzerland: Federal Office for the Environment. http://www.ub.unibas.ch/digi/a125/sachdok/2014/BAU_1_6291443.pdf.
- EDF and Initiative Biodiversité Combe Madame. [NO DATE]. *Engagement relatif à l'offre de compensation "Combe Madame".* Paris and La Ville, France: EDF and IBCM. http://www.developpementdurable.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/Engagement_Combre_Madame.pdf.
- EDF Luminus. 2015. "Biodiversity: Sites where voluntary measures are in place 2015 status." EDF Luminus. Accessed 9 February 2016. https://edfluminus.edf.com/sites/default/files/EDF%20Luminus/engagements/biodiversite/biodiversity_vol untary_measures_.pdf.
- EDF. 2013. Opération expérimentale d'offre de compensation : Site de la Combe Madame. Paris, France: EDF. http://docplayer.fr/24303626-Operation-experimentale-d-offre-de-compensation.html.
- EEA Report No 3. 2016. Mapping and assessing the condition of Europe's ecosystems: progress and challenges – EEA contribution to the implementation of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. Copenhagen, Denmark: European Environment Agency. http://bookshop.europa.eu/en/mapping-and-assessing-thecondition-of-europe-s-ecosystems-pbTHAL16003/.
- Eftec, IEEP et al. 2010. The use of market-based instruments for biodiversity protection: The case of habitat banking Technical Report for European Commission DG Environment. London, UK: eftec. http://www.forest-trends.org/documents/files/doc_2408.pdf.
- Environment Bank. 2016. "EB's overview of DEFRA's pilot evaluation report." Environment Bank March 2016 newsletter. http://www.environmentbank.com/files/eb-overview-of-defra-pilot-evaluation.pdf.
- Eppink, F., & Wätzold, F. 2009. "Comparing visible and less visible costs of the habitats directive: The case of hamster conservation in Germany." *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 18(4), 795–810.
- EUR-Lex. 2014. "Directive 2014/52/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 amending Directive 2011/92/EU on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment Text with EEA relevance." European Union. Accessed 8 February 2016. http://eurlex.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/52/oj.
- European Commission. 2017. Bank on Nature: First loan agreement backed by Natural Capital Financing Facility signed in Brussels, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-17-914_en.htm.
- European Commission. 2013. *Guidance on Integrating Climate Change and Biodiversity into Environmental Impact Assessment.* Brussels, Belgium: European Union.
- European Commission. 2012. *Guidance document on Article 6(4) of the 'Habitats Directive' 92/43/EEC.* Brussels, Belgium: European Union.
- European Commission, 2011a. Our Life Insurance, Our Natural Capital: An EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. 3.5. 2011. COM (2011) 244. Brussels: European Commission.

- European Commission. 2011b. The EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020. Luxembourg: European Commission. ISBN 978-92-79-20762-4
- European Commission Press Release Database. 2010. "Biodiversity: Assessment confirms EU has missed 2010 target, but important lessons learned." European Commission. Accessed 9 February 2016. http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-10-1303_en.htm.
- European Commission. 2007. *Guidance document on Article 6(4) of the 'Habitats Directive' 92/43/EEC.* Brussels, Belgium: European Union.
- European Commission. 2006a. "Biodiversity 2006 Communication and Action Plan." European Commission Environment. Accessed 8 February 2016. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/comm2006/bap_2006.htm.
- European Commission. 2006b. *Halting the Loss of Biodiversity by 2010 and beyond: Sustaining ecosystem services for human well-being.* Brussels, Belgium: Commission of the European Communities. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52006DC0216.
- European Commission, n.d.a. Biodiversity Strategy (Accessed 1 June 2017). http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/strategy/index_en.htm#stra.
- European Commission, n.d.b. "Environmental Liability." European Commission Environment. Accessed 8 February 2016. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/legal/liability/.
- European Commission, n.d.c. Results of the No Net Loss Public Consultation (Accessed 1 June 2017). http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/nnl/results_en.htm.
- European Environmental Bureau. 2014. *EEB priorities for 'EU no net loss initiative'*. Brussels, Belgium: European Environmental Bureau. http://www.eeb.org/EEB/?LinkServID=AE82914E-5056-B741-DB98744CF8393912&showMeta=0
- European Parliament, Council of the European Union. 2014. Directive 2014/52/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 amending Directive 2011/92/EU on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment Text with EEA relevance. Official Journal of the European Union. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/52/oj</u>
- European Parliament. European Parliament resolution of 20 April 2012 on our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020 (2011/2307(INI)). Brussels, 2012. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/comm2006/pdf/EP_resolution_april2012.pdf.
- European Commission, Directorate-General for Environment. 2015. *Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council: The Mid-term Review of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020.* European Commission, Brussels.
- Fachkommission Landwirtschaft + Naturschutz, Gemeinde Bassersdorf. 2014. "Exkursion Überwerfung Hürlistein: Bauliche und ökologische Herausforderungen." *Dorf-Blitz,* April 23. <u>https://issuu.com/reho1964/docs/dorf-blitz_april_2014</u>.
- Financial Times. Developers set for Brexit triumph over great crested newt. Financial Times, February 10 2017.
- Froger, G., Ménard, S. and Méral, P. 2014. "Toward a comparative and critical analysis of biodiversity banks." *Ecosystem Services*. [In press]. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.11.018i.
- Goffart, Philippe. 2012. "La compensation écologique en Wallonie : de la théorie à la pratique. "*Aménagement-Environnement*, Numéro Spécial (3) : 41-47.

http://www.academia.edu/22033163/La_compensation_%C3%A9cologique_en_Wallonie_de_la_th%C3 %A9orie_%C3%A0_la_pratique.

- Herberg, Alfred. 2006. "Vertragliche Flächenbereitstellung ohne Erwerb." Moderiertes Forum "Flächen- und Massnahmenpools." Accessed 9 February 2016. http://forschung.umweltpruefung.tuberlin.de/forumfmp/index.html?96.shtml.
- Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP). 2016. Supporting the Elaboration of the Impact Assessment for a Future EU Initiative on No Net Loss of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. London: IEEP.
- IUCN. 2014. Biodiversity Offsets Technical Study Paper. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.
- Jessel, B., Schöps, A., Gall, B. and Szaramowicz, M., 2006. Flächenpools in der Eingriffsregelung und regionales Landschaftswassermanagement als Beiträge zu einer integrierten Landschaftsentwicklung am Beispiel der Mittleren Havel. Bonn Bad Godesberg: Bundesamt für Naturschutz (ed.), Naturschutz und Biologische Vielfalt Heft 33. Bonn. http://www.ufz.de/index.php?en=20939&pub_data[dbaf][dbaf_page]=view&pub_data[dbaf][pk][PUB_ID]= 2745.
- Kägi, Bruno, Andreas Stalder, and Markus Thommen. 2002. *Wiederherstellung und Ersatz im Natur- und Landschaftsschutz: Leitfaden Umwelt Nr. 11.* Bern, Switzerland: Federal Office for the Environment. https://www.ivs.admin.ch/images/dienstleistungen_IT/Wiederherstellung_2002.pdf.
- Koh, Niak Sian, Thomas Hahn, and Claudia Ituarte-Lima. 2014. A comparative analysis of ecological compensation programs: The effect of program design on the social and ecological outcomes (Working Paper). Uppsala, Sweden: Uppsala University. http://uu.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:772933/FULLTEXT01.pdf.
- Landi, G. 2009. La valutazione di impatto ambientale e la valutazione ambientale strategica. Torino, Italy: UTET Guide tecniche.
- Lawrence, D. Grant. 2006. *Environmental Liability Directive: A Short Overview*. Brussels, Belgium: European Commission. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/legal/liability/pdf/Summary%20ELD.pdf.
- Leonardi, A. 2015. Alessandro Leonardi, "Characterizing governance and benefits of payments for watershed services in Europe" PhD diss., University of Padova, 2015, http://paduaresearch.cab.unipd.it/7832/1/Leonardi_Alessandro_tesi.pdf.
- Lersch, Gerd. 2006. Aachener Leitfaden zur Bewertung von Eingriffen in Natur und Landschaft. Aachen, Germany: Stadt Aachen. www.aachen.de/BIS/FO/leitfaden_eingriffe_natur.pdf.
- Mace, Georgina, Hillary Masundire, and Jonathan Baillie. 2005. "Chapter 4: Biodiversity." In *Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Current State and Trends*, edited by Rashid Hassan, Robert Scholes and Neville Ash. Washington, USA: IslandPress.
- Madsen, Becca, Carroll, N., Brands, M., and Kelly, 2010. *State of Biodiversity Markets: Offset and Compensation Programs Worldwide.* Washington, DC: Forest Trends Association.
- Madsen, Becca, Carroll, N., Kandy, D. and Bennett G., 2011. *Update: State of Biodiversity Markets.* Washington, DC: Forest Trends Association.
- Mathieu, Audrey. 2016. "Compensations planologiques, plus compensatoires que ça..."Fédération Inter-Environnement Wallonie des associations au service de l'environnement. Accessed 9 February 2016. http://www.iew.be/spip.php?article7613.

- Matzdorf, Bettina, Carolin Biedermann, Claas Meyer, Kristin Nicolaus, Claudia Sattler, and Sarah Schomers. 2014. Paying for Green? Payments for Ecosystem Services in Practice: Successful examples of PES from Germany, the United Kingdom and the United States. Müncheberg, Germany: Federal Ministry of Education and Research. http://www.civiland-zalf.org/download/PayingforGreen_PESinpractice.pdf.
- McKenney, Bruce A. and Joseph M. Kiesecker. 2010. "Policy Development for Biodiversity Offsets: A Review of Offset Frameworks." *Environmental Management* (45): 165-176. DOI 10.1007/s00267-009-9396-3.
- McNeil, David and Matt Rayment. 2015. *Financing Opportunities and Needs: Biodiversity Offsetting and No Net Loss Measures.* EU Business and Biodiversity Platform. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/biodiversity/business/assets/pdf/workstream3/biodiversity-offsetting-and-no-net-loss_en.pdf.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. 2005. *Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis*. Washington DC: World Resources Institute. http://www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.354.aspx.pdf.
- Mission Economie de la Biodiversité. 2014. *BIODIV'2050: No.3.* Paris, France : CDC Biodiversité. http://www.mission-economie-biodiversite.com/downloads/BIODIV-2050-N3-FR-BD_c.
- Mission Economie de la Biodiversité. 2016. *Les cahiers de BIODIV'2050 : Comprendre La compensation écologique à travers le monde : source d'inspiration. No.10.* Paris, France: CDC Biodiversité.
- Morandeau, Delphine and Delphine Vilaysack. 2012. "Compensating for Damages to Biodiversity: An International Benchmarking Study." In *Etudes et Documents No. 68.* Paris, France: Ministry of Ecology, Sustainable Development and Energy. http://www.foresttrends.org/publication_details.php?publicationID=3209
- Naumann, S., Vorwerk, A., and Bräuer, I. 2008. *Compensation in the form of Habitat Banking. Short-Case Study Report.* Draft Report. Resource Equivalency Methods for Assessing Environmental Damage in the EU.
- O'Keefe, Andrew. 2013. Evaluating Equivalence in Biodiversity Offset Schemes Presentation to Expert Workshop on Biodiversity Offset. Paris, France: OECD Environment Directorate.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2013. "Biodiversity Offsets." In *Scaling-up Finance Mechanisms for Biodiversity*. OECD. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264193833-en.
- Persson, Jesper, Anders Larsson, and Ana Villarroya. 2015. "Compensation in Swedish infrastructure projects and suggestions on policy improvements." *Nature Conservation*, 11: 113-127. doi: 10.3897/ natureconservation.11.4367.
- Philippart, Christelle. 2013. La compensation écologique comme mécanisme pour le maintien de la biodiversité des paysages «ordinaires » - Cas de l'avifaune des espaces agricoles de Wallonie. Brussels, Belgium: Institut de Gestion de l'Environnement et d'Aménagement du Territoire, Faculté des Sciences, Université libre de Bruxelles. http://mem-envi.ulb.ac.be/Memoires_en_pdf/MFE_12_13/MFE_Philippart_12_13.pdf.
- Point focal national belge pour la Convention sur la Diversité biologique. 2013. *Biodiversité 2020 Actualisation de la Stratégie nationale de la Belgique*. Brussels, Belgium : Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique.

http://www.health.belgium.be/sites/default/files/uploads/fields/fpshealth_theme_file/19104339/Strat%C3 %A9gie%20nationale%20biodiversit%C3%A9%202013_FR.pdf.

Puydarrieux, Philippe and Annelaure Wittmann. 2015. *Expérimentation de la compensation par l'offre en France:* premier retour de l'expérience et articulation avec les espaces naturels. Paris, France: Ministry of Ecology, Sustainable Development and Energy.

- Quétier, Fabien, Baptiste Regnery, and Harold Levrel. 2014. "No net loss of biodiversity or paper offsets? A critical review of the French no net loss policy." *Environmental Science & Policy* (38): 120-131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2013.11.009
- Quétier, Fabien. 2014. La Compensation Ecologique: Un droit à détruire et des marchés de dupes, ou un outil de réconciliation d'objectifs de développement et de conservation de la biodiversité? Montpellier, France: Biotope. http://www.iddri.org/Evenements/Seminairesreguliers/140930_sddee%20compensation%20ppt%20F.Quetier.pdf.
- Rayment, Matt. 2014. Study on specific design elements of biodiversity offsets: Biodiversity metrics and mechanisms for securing long term conservation benefits. London, UK: ICF Consulting Services Limited. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/nnl/pdf/Biodiversity%20offsets%20metrics%20and% 20mechanisms.pdf.
- Reihe Bund 5. 2008. *Bericht des Rechnungshofes.* Vienna, Austria: Der Rechnungshof. http://www.rechnungshof.gv.at/fileadmin/downloads/2008/berichte/berichte_bund/Bund_2008_05.pdf.
- Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. 2015. *The Mid-Term Review of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020.* Brussels, Belgium: European Commission. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52015DC0478.
- Schoukens, Hendrik and Cliquet, An. 2014. "Mitigation and Compensation under EU Nature Conservation Law in the Flemish Region: Beyond the Deadlock for Development Projects." *Utrecht Law Review,* 10 (02) May.
- Sol, Xavier. 2016. "EU is pushing biodiversity offsetting through the backdoor." Nature Not For Sale. Accessed February 8 2016. http://naturenotforsale.org/comment/eu-is-pushing-biodiversity-offsetting-through-thebackdoor/
- Spanish Government. 2014. Contribución española en respuesta a la notificación 2013-050 de la Secretaría del Convenio de Naciones Unidas sobre Diversidad Biológica. Madrid, Spain: Spanish Government.
- Sperle, Thomas. 2010. Evaluation der Umsetzung von Ausgleichsmassnahmen von Bebauungsplänen. Denzlingen, Germany: Landtagsfraktion Bündnis90 / Die Grünen Baden-Württemberg. http://www.giselasplett.de/pdf/Evaluation_Bericht_120110.pdf.
- Stieger, Greta. 2010. Heutige Situation und Ausbaumöglichkeiten hinsichtlich Wiederherstellungs- und Ersatzmassnahmen im schweizerischen Natur- und Landschaftsschutz: Beurteilung anhand einer interkantonalen Analyse und eines Vergleichs mit der Situation in Deutschland. Zurich, Switzerland: ETH Zurich. http://www.wsl.ch/fe/wisoz/students/Stieger2010_BA.pdf.
- Tucker, Graham, Ben Allen, Mavourneen Conway, Ian Dickie, Kaley Hart, Matt Rayment, Catharina Schulp, and Astrid van Teeffelen. 2014. *Policy Options for an EU No Net Loss Initiative. Report to the European Commission.* London: Institute for European Environmental Policy.
- Tucker, Graham, Ben Allen, Mavourneen Conway, Ian Dickie, Kaley Hart, Matt Rayment, Catharina Schulp, and Astrid van Teeffelen. 2013. *Policy Options for an EU No Net Loss Initiative – Report to the European Commission. Annex.* London, UK: Institute for European Environmental Policy.
- Tucker, Graham, Ian Dickie, David McNeil, Matt Rayment, Patrick ten Brink, and Evelyn Underwood. 2016. Supporting the Elaboration of the Impact Assessment for a Future EU Initiative on No Net Loss of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services – Report to the European Commission. London, UK: Institute for European Environmental Policy.
- Umwelt Anwaltschaft. 2009. *Positionspapier: Eingriffs-Ausgleichs-Regelung für Natur- und Landschaftsschutz.* Linz, Austria: Oö. Umweltanwaltschaft. http://www.ooe-umweltanwaltschaft.at/xbcr/SID-F07A4909-B97D2F36/Schottertext.pdf.

UVEK. 2014. Flughafen Zürich: Plangenehmigung – Umsetzung ökologischer Ersatzmassnahmen für verschiedene Bauvorhaben am Flughafen Zürich im Gebiet «Hundig», Gemeinden Glattfelden und Bülach. Bern, Switzerland: UVEK.

https://www.bazl.admin.ch/dam/bazl/de/dokumente/Fachleute/Flugplaetze/flugplaetze/plangenehmigung _umsetzungoekologischerersatzmassnahmenfuerversch.pdf.download.pdf/plangenehmigung_umsetzun goekologischerersatzmassnahmenfuerversch.pdf.

- Vaissière, A. and Levrel, H. 2015. "Biodiversity offset markets: What are they really? An empirical approach to wetland mitigation banking." *Ecological Economics*. V. 110, p. 81-88.
- Van Hoorick, Geert. 2014. "Compensatory Measures in European Nature Conservation Law." *Utrecht Law Review*, 10 (02) May.
- van Teeffeelen, A., Opdam, P., Wätzold, F., Florian, H., Johst, K., Dreschler, M., Vos, C. C., Wissel S. and Quétier, F. 2015. "Ecological and economic conditions and associated institutional challenges for conservation banking in dynamic landscapes." *Landscape and Urban Planning*. v. 130, p. 64-72.
- Wenden, W., Herberg, A. and Herzberg, A. 2005. "Mitigation banking and compensation pools: improving the effectiveness of impact mitigation regulation in project planning procedures." *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, v. 23:2, p. 101-111.

